2008

Lori Ann Busche v. Matthias Busche : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103-(2)(h).

STATEMENT OF ISSUE AND STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW

The appellant (“Matthias Busche”) asserts the following issues on appeal:

1. Did the Court abuse its discretion when it refused to reduce the child support obligation of Matthias Busche based on a substantial change in circumstances regarding his income? The trial court’s ruling regarding its determination of alimony and child support is reviewed by the Appellate Court under an abuse of discretion standard of review. See Howell v. Howell, 806 P.2d 1209, 1211 (Utah App. 1991).
2. Did the Court err in concluding as a matter of law that Matthias Busche was voluntarily underemployed? Did the Court err when it admitted into evidence and relied substantively on Tom Black’s written affidavit and spoken deposition testimony, when the other party failed to make a proper pretrial disclosure regarding such evidence, and when Tom Black failed to appear in person to testify at trial and be cross examined? Additionally, did the Court err in concluding as a matter of law that the term “voluntarily unemployed” includes instances where a parent is terminated for cause? The trial court’s ruling regarding its statutory interpretation of “voluntary underemployment” is reviewed by the Appellate Court

under a de novo standard of review. “Conclusions of law . . . are reviewed for correctness and given no special deference on appeal.” Howell, 806 P.2d at 1211 (citing Bountiful v. Riley, 784 P.2d 1174, 1175 (Utah 1989); Smith v. Smith, 793 P.2d 407, 409 (Utah App. 1990)).

3. Did the Court err when it applied the pre-2007 Amended Statute to determine how much income to impute to Matthias? The trial court’s ruling is reviewed by the Appellate Court under a plain error standard. See Marchand v. Marchand, 147 P.3d 538 (Ut. App. 2006).
4. Did the Court err in refusing to reduce or eliminate Matthias’s alimony obligation based on a change of income? The trial court’s ruling regarding its determination on alimony is reviewed by the Appellate Court under an abuse of discretion standard of review. See Howell v. Howell, 806 P.2d 1209, 1211 (Utah App. 1991).
5. The trial court’s ruling regarding attorney’s fees is reviewed by the Appellate Court under an abuse of discretion standard of review. “[T]he decision to award attorney fees . . . [is] within the sound discretion of the trial court.” Whitehead v. Whitehead, 836 P.2d 814, 816 (Utah App. 1992) (quoting Crouse v. Crouse, 817 P.2d 836, 840 (Utah App. 1991)).

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES AND RULES

Utah Code Ann. § 30-3-5(8)(g)(i)

Utah Code Ann. § 30-3-5(8)(a)

Utah Code Ann. § 30-3-5(6)

Utah Code Ann § 78-45-7.2(7)(a)

This section was amended in 2007, effective July 1, 2007, and renumbered in 2008 as § 78B-12-210(9)(a)

Utah Code Ann § 78-45-7.2(7)(b)

This section was amended in 2007, effective July 1, 2007, and renumbered in 2008 as § 78B-12-210(9)(b)

Utah Code Ann. § 78-45-7.5(7)(a)

This section was amended in 2007, effective July 1, 2007, and renumbered in 2008 as § 78B-12-203(7)(a)

Utah Code Ann. § 78-45-7.5(7)(b)

This section was amended in 2007, effective July 1, 2007, and renumbered in 2008 as § 78B-12-203(7)(b)

Utah R. Civ. P. 26(a)(4)

Utah R. Civ. P. 37(f)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Matthias Busche filed a Petition to Modify seeking a reduction or elimination of alimony pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 30-3-5(8)(g)(i), and a reduction in child support pursuant to Utah Code Ann § 78-45-7.2(7)(a)&(b) based on a substantial change in circumstances regarding his income. After a bench trial was held on July 7,

2007 the trial judge denied Matthias's Petition to Modify and ordered that the amounts of child support and alimony remain the same. Furthermore, at that time, the trial judge did not award attorney fees but instead ordered the attorneys to schedule a hearing at a future date to discuss the issue of attorney fees further. The hearing was subsequently held on November 1, 2007 where the trial judge ordered Matthias to pay a large portion of Lori's attorney fees in the amount of \$20,000. On March 19, 2008, the trial court entered the Order.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant ("Matthias Busche") and appellee ("Lori Ann Busche") were married in June 1995. They later divorced on January 7, 2005. (Court of Appeals Record 1034 (herein after "R. 1034"), Trial Transcript, p. 20:21). The divorce decree ordered Matthias to pay \$1,545.00 per month as alimony for 9 ½ years based on a monthly salary of \$7,067.00. (R. 0081-82, Divorce Decree, ¶ 12). The decree also ordered Matthias to pay \$1,766.00 per month as child support for the five children of the marriage based on the same monthly salary. (R. 0084, Divorce Decree, ¶ 6). Lori's monthly salary was imputed at minimum wage for a total of \$892.00 per month. (*Id.* at ¶ 6).

Appellant Matthias Busche filed a Petition for Modification seeking a reduction or elimination of alimony and a reduction in child support on June 20, 2005 because of his substantial change in circumstances regarding his income. (R. 0101, Verified Petition to Modify Decree of Divorce). At the time of the divorce, Matthias was working for Tahitian Noni International ("TNI"), an entity of Morinda, Inc., (R. 1034, Trial

Transcript, p. 20:13-19), and received \$84,800.00 annually (\$7,067.00 monthly) from this employment. (*Id.* at 21:1-4). At trial, Exhibit 11, Financial Declaration dated May 31, 2007, which contained a recent pay stub, verified his monthly income had been reduced to \$4,583.33 gross (R. 1036, Exhibit 11, Financial Declaration dated May 31, 2007).

In March, 2004, Matthias's supervisor, Tom Black, issued a written warning for his behavior at the office stating that any further violations "may result in disciplinary action up to and including termination." The violations mentioned included "sharing your personal life with employees or talking about inappropriate subjects with employees," spending too much time "interacting with a female distributor," and speaking to "an employee concerning your personal life which involved topics of a sexual nature." (R. 1036, Exhibit 16, Performance Counseling Notice). On December 28, 2004, following a performance evaluation, Tom Black sent Matthias a memo that included, among others, the following statements:

- A. "Your performance has been below expectations; i.e. your time and contribution is not accounted for."
- B. "We agreed that from now on, you will be sensitive to your work peers by not burdening them with your personal challenges. They need your support."
- C. "In order to help you be successful, I want to meet with you every 6 weeks until no longer necessary to discuss the improvements of your performance, and adjust and/or clarify the goals and expectations for the next 6 weeks."
- D. "After we both reflect further upon this matter, let us meet and establish a plan for the coming year."

(R. 1036, Exhibit 16, Tom Black Memorandum).

In response to the above mentioned memorandum, Matthias sent Tom Black an email stating:

I am in agreement with you on this and have no problem with what you have stated and planned in regards to my performance. As I mentioned on the phone to you earlier this morning, I have felt the same about myself and have full intentions to be again as dedicated and available as I have been in the past and beyond and be the leader I am expected to be in my position.

I will also give the restructuring of our department some thought and we can talk about it when we are back together in the office.

(R. 1036, Exhibit 16, Email to Tom Black).

Matthias's employment with Morinda, Inc. was discharged on January 28, 2005, before the first six-week review between Matthias and Tom Black ever took place. (R. 1036, Exhibit 16, Personal Action Notice dated January 28, 2005). Matthias signed a document entitled "Release of All Claims" in which he agreed to release all claims against Morinda, Inc.—for wages, profits, damages, attorney fees, etc.—in exchange for twenty two weeks' salary (\$35,876.94)¹ plus 6 months of COBRA premiums (\$6,180.00). (R. 1036, Exhibit 1, Release of All Claims). Furthermore, the parties covenanted not to disparage or speak ill of the other. (*Id.* at ¶ H). Despite the discharge and severance agreement, Matthias continued to work for Morinda, Inc. during March and April 2005. (R. 1003, Findings of Fact and Amended Decree of Divorce, ¶ 16; R. 1034, Trial Transcript, p. 25:10-18).

On April 13, 2005, Matthias was contracted by Morinda, Inc. to provide services

¹ Lori later received one-half of this \$35,876.94 severance payment in accordance with paragraph 12 of the Divorce Decree.

to TNI for an indefinite period of time for which he received \$5,000 per month. (R. 1036, Exhibit 2, Morinda Letter dated April 13, 2005; R. 1034, Trial Transcript, p. 25:19-25; 26:1-5). Matthias worked for Morinda, Inc. in this capacity for approximately one year—until early 2006 when Morinda, Inc. did not renew his contract. (R. 1034, Trial Transcript, p. 27:9-12, 24-25; 28:1-4). Matthias was not given any documentation that he had been fired for cause or terminated and it was not his desire to quit working for Morinda, Inc.² (*Id.* at 29:1-7). After Matthias's contract was not renewed with Morinda, Inc., he sent out 30-40 resumes. (R. 0997, Findings of Fact and Amended Decree of Divorce, ¶ 21; R. 1034, Trial Transcript, p. 34:23-25, 35:1-13). Matthias was eventually hired by Supernaturals, also known as SISEL International, LLC, in October 2006 at a salary of \$55,000.00 per year (\$4,583.33 per month) and received no bonuses.³ (R. 0995-96, Findings of Fact and Amended Decree of Divorce, ¶ 22-23; R. 1036, Exhibit 3, Supernaturals Letter; R. 1036, Exhibit 4, Paystub dated October 20, 2006; R. 1036, Exhibit 8, Paystub dated March 18, 2007; R. 1034, Trial Transcript, p. 30:21-23).

In 2006, Matthias declared a total gross income of \$25,929.00 on his 2006 U.S. tax return and an adjusted gross income of \$11,915.00—after deducting \$14,014.00 for alimony payments. (R. 1011, Findings of Fact and Amended Decree of Divorce, ¶ 25; R. 1036, Exhibit 6, Matthias's 2006 Tax Return; R. 1034, Trial Transcript, p. 32:17-25,

² The trial court judge found that Matthias was terminated for cause in January 2005 and that his contract was not renewed in early 2006 also for cause. However, the judge's findings were based on Tom Black's deposition and affidavit that was to be used only for impeachment purposes; i.e. not for its truth. Furthermore, the deposition reflects that Tom Black was uncertain as to the reason for Matthias's discharge in January 2005 and the nonrenewal of his contract in early 2006. This issue will be discussed more fully in the argument section of this brief.

³ At trial, Matthias testified that he was still worked for Supernaturals and still received the same rate of pay. (R. 1034, Trial Transcript, p. 30:5-12).

33:1-9, 34:4-22). By comparison, Matthias declared a total gross income of \$86,011.00 on his 2005 U.S. tax return and an adjusted gross income of \$63,256.00—after deducting \$22,755.00 for alimony payments. (R. 1011, Findings of Fact and Amended Decree of Divorce, ¶ 24; R. 1036, Exhibit 5, Matthias's 2005 Tax Return; R. 1034, Trial Transcript, p. 31:18-25, 32:1-10).

At a bench trial on July 7, 2007, the parties presented their case before the Honorable Judge Claudia Laycock of the Utah Fourth District Court. Lori's counsel argued that the level of income Matthias earned while working for Morinda, Inc. (\$84,800.00 per year) should be used (i.e., imputed to Matthias under Utah Code Ann. § 78-45-7.5(7)(a)) to calculate his child support and alimony obligations. Lori's counsel sought to prove that Matthias was fired from Morinda, Inc. for cause to establish that he was voluntarily underemployed—a necessary finding to impute income to a parent.

Lori's counsel subpoenaed Matthias's supervisor at Morinda, Tom Black, to testify at trial. However, Tom Black never appeared at trial as he was on vacation in Vancouver, Canada. In Tom Black's absence, Lori's counsel sought to admit into evidence Tom Black's deposition and attached affidavit, recorded nearly a year earlier. Matthias's counsel objected to the admittance of these items into evidence based on Utah R. Civ. P. 26(a)(4) because she was not notified by Lori's counsel that Tom Black would be unavailable for cross-examination at trial and that the deposition and affidavit would be admitted in his absence. (R. 1034, Trial Transcript, p. 121:2-5; 123:14-25, 124:1-8; 127:7-18; 130:9-25, 131:1-23). The trial judge sustained Matthias's counsel's objection

and stated that she needed a chance to cross-examine Tom Black. (R. 1034, Trial Transcript, p. 135-36; 137:1-2). Accordingly, Lori's counsel offered the deposition and affidavit solely for impeachment purposes, which is permissible under Rule 26(a)(4). (R. 1034, Trial Transcript p. 137:3-25, 138:1-4, 139:3-4; 141:24-25, 142:1-25, 143:1-2). Following the trial judge's ruling on the matter, portions of the deposition were read into the record. (R. 1034, Trial Transcript, p. 145:16-25, 146-50, 151:1-4). After the reading of the deposition, Lori's counsel strangely sought to admit into evidence Tom Black's affidavit that was attached to the deposition—even though the judge just a few minutes prior concluded that both the deposition and affidavit could come in solely for impeachment purposes. (R. 1034, Trial Transcript, p. 151:7-25). Surprisingly, the judge then admitted it into evidence as "Exhibit 22." R. 1034, (R. 1034, Trial Transcript, p. 152:2-13). Matthias's counsel reported that she was missing the affidavit and was never provided a copy. (R. 1034, Trial Transcript, p. 152:22-25, 153:1-3).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The trial court abused its discretion by refusing to reduce Matthias's child support and either eliminate or reduce his alimony obligations. The trial court excluded from trial all evidence that Matthias had been terminated for cause, yet subsequently considered the evidence and concluded that he was voluntarily underemployed. The only information the trial court had legitimately before it was Matthias's uncontested claim that he was now employed at a substantially lower pay than previously, and this should have compelled the trial court to conclude that a substantial change of material circumstances

had occurred justifying elimination of alimony and reduction of child support.

The trial court incorrectly construed the term “voluntarily underemployed” to include instances of termination for causes unrelated to an effort to shirk support obligations, in order to justify an imputation of income based on Matthias’s previous highest salary. It should instead have concluded that “voluntary underemployment” only occurs when an obligor attempts to shirk support obligations, not when they lose their jobs for poor performance or violations of company policies. Even if the term “voluntary underemployment” should include termination for cause, however, the trial court nevertheless failed in its obligations to consider all the relevant factors in determining the proper amount of income to impute to Matthias. The trial court committed plain error by not applying the most-current amended statute, which mandated consideration of “employment opportunities” available to Matthias. In fact, the trial court gave no consideration whatsoever to the economic realities facing Matthias, and instead erroneously started and concluded its analysis with the fact that Matthias had once earned a higher salary.

Even if the trial court did not err by the above-listed actions, the result in this case constitutes inequity and injustice. Divorce proceedings are proceedings in equity, and equitable principles require a fundamentally fair outcome. The result in this case, however, unconscionably impoverishes Matthias, requiring him to pay fully three quarters of his income to his ex wife and does not leave him enough money upon which to subsist himself. Not only does the trial court’s order here violate equitable principles, but it also

violates statutory and case law in that it requires Matthias to pay more than he is able, thus exceeding the maximum alimony allowed by law.

Finally, the trial court abused its discretion by improperly awarding Lori substantial attorney fees, in violation of case law prohibiting such awards where the obligor is unable to pay. The trial court itself found that the award would have “catastrophic consequences” for Matthias, and that Matthias did not pursue his Petition to Modify in bad faith. Further, the trial court gave no consideration at all to Lori’s need for the fees, or their reasonableness. Thus, the trial court considered none of the factors required by law to order attorney fees. Without such considerations, the trial court’s attorney fee award appears punitive in nature, and this court should determine the award to be an abuse of the trial court’s discretion.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN REFUSING TO REDUCE MATTHIAS’S CHILD SUPPORT OBLIGATION BASED ON A CHANGE OF INCOME

Under Utah law, “[a] parent . . . may at any time petition the court to adjust the amount of a child support order if there has been a substantial change in circumstances.” Utah Code Ann § 78-45-7.2(7)(a) (2007) (renumbered 2008). A substantial change in circumstances may include (1) “material changes of 30% or more in the income of a parent,” or (2) “material changes in the ability of a parent to earn.” *Id.* § 78-45-7.2(7)(b). The parties do not dispute that Matthias’s actual income changed more than 30% from the

income he received at the time of the divorce decree.

The dispute arises because at trial on Matthias's petition to modify the decree, the trial court imputed to Matthias the income he received at the time of the divorce decree, and refused to rely upon his actual income at the time of the attempted modification. A court may impute income to a parent to determine his child support and alimony obligations. See id. § 78-45-7.5(7)(a). However, the court may not impute income to a parent for the purpose of determining his child support obligation "unless the parent stipulated to the amount imputed . . . or, in contested cases, a hearing is held and a finding made that the parent is voluntarily unemployed or underemployed."⁴ Id.; see also Hill v. Hill, 869 P.2d 963, 965 (Utah App. 1994). Subsection (b) outlines factors that should be taken into account when calculating the amount of income to impute to a parent:

If income is imputed to a parent the income shall be based upon employment potential and probable earnings as derived from work history⁵, occupation qualifications, and prevailing earnings for persons of similar backgrounds in the community, or the median earning for persons in the same occupation in the same geographical area as found in the statistics maintained by the Bureau of Labor Statistics.

Id. § 78-45-7.5(7)(b)

⁴ This statute was amended in 2007 (effective July 1, 2007—6 days before trial was held in this case). The amended statute reads: "Income may not be imputed to a parent unless the parent stipulates to the amount imputed, the parent defaults, or, in contested cases, a hearing is held and the judge in a judicial proceeding . . . enters findings of fact as to the evidentiary basis for the imputation. Utah Code Ann. § 78-45-7.5(7)(a) (as amended 2007). (The 2008 amendment renumbered this section as § 78B-12-203(7)(a)).

⁵ As indicated in the footnote above, this section was amended in 2007 (effective July 1, 2007) and now includes the phrase "employment opportunities" in addition to work history, occupational qualifications, etc. See Utah Code Ann. § 78-45-7.5(7)(b) (as amended 2007) (The 2008 amendment renumbered this section as § 78B-12-203(7)(b)).

II.

THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN REFUSING TO REDUCE MATTHIAS'S CHILD SUPPORT OBLIGATION BASED ON A CHANGE OF INCOME

The trial judge erred in concluding as a matter of law that Matthias was voluntarily underemployed because (1) she relied improperly upon Tom Black's deposition and affidavit to reach this conclusion and (2) she misconstrued the term "voluntarily underemployed" to include instances where a parent is terminated from employment for cause.

First, without Tom Black's deposition and affidavit, the trial court could not have reasonably concluded that Matthias was terminated from his employment with Marinda for cause. Absent that inadmissible substantive evidence, the only evidence in the record regarding Matthias's current income and employment was Matthias's own evidence that he had been laid off from full-time employment and that he was now earning substantially less money as an independent contractor. In other words, Tom Black's deposition and affidavit provided the trial court with the only suggestion that Matthias's employment circumstances resulted from any sort of malfeasance on Matthias's part.

It is undisputed in the record that Lori's counsel did not provide the notice required to use Tom Black's deposition testimony as substantive evidence at trial. Further, Judge Laycock sustained Matthias's objection to admission of the evidence. Thus, no argument can be made that the evidence should have been considered in determining the issue of voluntary underemployment, yet Judge Laycock curiously arrived at the conclusion of

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