2008

Lori Ann Busche v. Matthias Busche : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

voluntarily underemployed. Thus, regardless of Tom Black's testimony, the trial court's findings with respect to Matthias' voluntary underemployment are supported by ample evidence in the record.

B. The Trial Court Correctly Determined that Matthias was Voluntarily Underemployed and Properly Imputed Income to Him.

Matthias spends the bulk of his brief arguing that the trial judge erred in determining that he was voluntarily underemployed based upon his termination for cause. Matthias first argues, based upon *Hall v. Hall*, that the trial court failed to consider all the appropriate factors in determining voluntary underemployment. Matthias next argues, based upon *In J.R.T. v. Martinez*, that the trial judge erred in concluding that Matthias' fault for his termination constitutes voluntary underemployment. However, Matthias is wrong: *Hall* is clearly distinguishable from this case and thus inapplicable and *Martinez* is not controlling authority.

i. *Hall v. Hall* is Distinguishable From This Case.

Matthias argues that the Utah Court of Appeals case, *Hall v. Hall*, requires a trial judge to consider several factors in determining voluntary underemployment. Matthias' reliance on *Hall* is misguided for at least two reasons. First, the context in *Hall* differs substantially from the context in this case. Second, Matthias misinterprets the *Hall* court's conclusions and has sought to apply *Hall* inappropriately to this case.

First, the context in *Hall* differs from the context in this case. The court in *Hall*

was deciding whether the trial court's absent findings regarding underemployment could be "implied." *Hall v. Hall*, 858 P.2d 1018, 1025-1026 (Utah Ct. App. 1993). *Hall* is obviously distinguishable from and inapplicable to this case because the trial court here made exhaustive factual findings regarding Matthias's voluntary underemployment. In *Hall*, the trial court imputed income to the appellant without explicitly determining that he was voluntarily underemployed. *See id.* Therefore, the Court of Appeals was left to consider whether it could imply the absent findings. *See id.* It was only in that context the Court noted the factors that trial courts should consider when determining voluntary underemployment. *See id.* at 1026. This case is different. In this case, the trial court, based upon specific findings of fact, explicitly determined that Matthias was voluntarily underemployed. Unlike *Hall*, this Court is not reduced to searching the trial court's factual findings to determine if the court considered any factor indicative of voluntary underemployment. Because the Court's analysis of underemployment in *Hall* was in the context of implying findings of underemployment, the analysis and reasoning of *Hall* are not applicable in this case.

Second, Matthias misinterprets the *Hall* Court's conclusions. Matthias asserts that *Hall* requires an analysis of several factors in determining voluntary underemployment. Matthias is mistaken. While *Hall* suggests various factors trial courts should consider, it only requires one factor that courts must consider – the parent's employment capacity and earning potential – in determining voluntary underemployment. *See id.* (stating that

in determining whether a parent is underemployed, “at a minimum, the trial court must determine [the parent’s] employment capacity and earning potential”). *Id.*

In *Hall*, the Utah Court of Appeals reversed the trial court’s determination that the appellant was underemployed. *Id.* The Court noted that the trial court’s findings “[did] not include any findings to the effect that [the] appellant was voluntarily underemployed.” *Id.* at 1025. Indeed, all the Court could determine from the trial court’s findings was that the appellant was earning considerably less than he had in the recent past. It “[could] only guess at whether this state of affairs stemm[ed] from appellant’s volition.” *Id.* The Court explained:

Although the trial court found that appellant is currently earning less than he was previously, that isolated finding does not answer the critical question of whether the drop in earnings was voluntary. Rather, Appellant’s current earnings, as compared to historical income, is merely one element in the matrix of factual issues affecting the ultimate finding of whether Appellant is underemployed. Many critical questions are left unanswered: What are Appellant’s abilities? Is Appellant’s current salary below the prevailing market for a person with his abilities? Are there any job openings for a person with Appellant’s abilities? At a minimum, the trial court must determine Appellant’s employment capacity and earnings potential . . . before it could logically conclude that he is, in fact, underemployed.

Id. Accordingly, the Court suggested that if the trial court had considered the appellant’s employment capacity and earnings potential, it could have logically concluded that he was underemployed. That, in turn, would give the Court a basis for implying findings supporting underemployment. However, because the trial court did not make *any*

findings supporting its determination of underemployment, the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's finding that Matthias was underemployed.

Here, the facts are readily distinguishable from *Hall*. First, as noted above, the context is different. This Court is not deciding whether to imply findings supporting the trial judge's determination that Matthias was voluntarily underemployed – the trial court here carefully set forth numerous factual findings supporting its determination of voluntary underemployment. Second, the trial judge in this case did consider many of the factors stated in *Hall*. The trial judge considered Matthias's current earnings as compared to his historical earnings. [R. at 1011-12]. The trial judge answered the critical question of whether Matthias' drop in earnings was voluntary. [*Id.*] And the trial judge noted Matthias' efforts to seek employment after his termination from Tahitian Noni, demonstrating that the judge considered Matthias's employment opportunities. [*Id.*] Accordingly, the trial judge did not fail to consider the factors relevant to a determination of voluntary underemployment.

ii. Martinez is Not Controlling Authority.

Matthias next argues that the trial court erred in concluding that Matthias' fault for his termination constitutes voluntary underemployment. Matthias asserts that a parent is not voluntarily underemployed unless they are shirking their alimony and child support obligations by unreasonably foregoing higher paying employment. Matthias incorrectly argues that this case is one of first impression in Utah and then inappropriately relies

exclusively on a Colorado Supreme Court case for this proposition. In *In re J.R.T. v. Martinez*, the Colorado Supreme Court held that if a trial court doesn't find that a parent is shirking their child support obligation by unreasonably foregoing higher paying employment, the trial court should calculate the amount of child support starting from the parent's actual gross income only. 70 P.3d 474, 476 (Colo. 2003).

In *Martinez*, Martinez lost his job for violating his company's sexual harassment policy. *Id.* at 475. He lost his next job for failing to timely deposit company funds. *Id.* He then accepted a lower paying job and moved the court to modify child support. *Id.* The trial court found that Martinez was voluntarily underemployed because he lost his jobs as a direct result of his own actions, so it imputed income to Martinez. *Id.* at 476. The court of appeals found that the trial court mistakenly concluded that Martinez was voluntarily underemployed based exclusively on the fact that he was fired for misbehavior. *Id.* The Colorado Supreme Court affirmed the judgment of the court of appeals. The Supreme Court examined the statutory goals of Colorado's child support guidelines as well as the legislative history and determined that the intent of the General Assembly was "to impute income when the parent shirks his or her child support obligation by unreasonably foregoing higher paying employment that he or she could obtain." *Id.* at 479-480.

Matthias argues that because the facts of *Martinez* are similar to the facts in this case, this Court should follow the reasoning of the Colorado Supreme Court. Matthias'

argument is flawed. First, Colorado law is not controlling in this case. Second, there is Utah law directly on point. In a 2010 Utah Court of Appeals case, *Connell v. Connell*, Connell was forced to resign from his job at Brigham Young University (“BYU”), where he earned \$5996 per month, for failing to fulfill a condition of employment. 2010 UT App 139, ¶ 14. At the time of trial, Connell was earning \$5000 per month. *Id.* at ¶19. However, the trial court imputed income to Connell based upon the \$5996 he was earning while at BYU. *Id.* The trial court found that Connell’s “forced resignation from BYU was caused by his voluntary failure to maintain compliance with conditions of employment there.” *Id.* The Court of Appeals upheld the trial court’s judgment. It noted, a “court maintains its ‘broad discretion to select an appropriate method of assessing a spouse’s income.’” *Id.* at ¶ 17 (quoting *Griffith v. Griffith*, 959 P.2d 1015, 1019 (Utah Ct. App. 1998)). The Court held: “[This] ruling[] of the trial court fall[s] within its broad discretion. We see no basis for disturbing [it].” *Id.* at ¶ 20.

The facts of this case parallel the facts of *Connell*. Just like Connell, Matthias lost his job at Tahitian Noni for voluntarily failing to comply with the conditions of employment there. Just like the trial court in *Connell*, the trial court in this case had broad discretion to conclude that Matthias was voluntarily underemployed because his termination resulted from his voluntary failure to comply with the conditions of his employment. *Connell* is controlling Utah authority which dictates that an individual whose termination results from his voluntary failure to comply with the conditions of

employment is not entitled to a modification of his support obligations. Accordingly, this Court should not disturb the trial judge's ruling.

III. The Trial Court Did Not Err By Applying Utah Code § 78-45-7.5(7).

Matthias argues, for the first time on appeal, that the trial court erred in applying Utah Code § 78-45-7.5(7) which, shortly before the trial court's memorandum decision, was amended and renumbered as § 78B-12-203(7)(b).

A. Amended Statutes Can Only Be Applied Retroactively to Pending Actions.

Matthias first argues, based on the trial court's application of § 78-45-7.5(7), that plain error exists and that the statute should be given retroactive effect as the amendment was a procedural amendment only. Matthias is incorrect regardless of whether the amendment is procedural or substantive. Matthias concedes that the statute was not amended until after the trial of this matter and after all the evidence had been submitted. [Brief at p. 24]. This is important because the retroactive application of an amended statute can only apply to accrued or pending actions. If the case has been tried and completed during which time the old version of the statute was in effect, a party cannot come in after the fact and argue the retroactive application of a statute which was amended after the action has been tried and all the evidence heard. In *Pilcher v. State*, the Utah Supreme Court explained this:

. . . where a statute changes only procedural law by providing a different mode or form of procedure for enforcing substantive rights . . . Such

remedial statutes are generally applied retrospectively to accrued or pending actions to further the Legislature's remedial purpose. . . .

[P]rocedural statutes enacted subsequent to the initiation of a suit which do not enlarge, eliminate, or destroy vested or contractual rights apply not only to future actions, but also to accrued and pending actions as well.

663 P.2d 450, 455 (Utah 1983) (emphasis added). Therefore, because the statute was amended after the case was completed and all the evidence had been submitted to the trial court, the case was not a pending action and it was not error to apply the version of the statute in effect at the time of trial.

B. The Amendment of § 78-45-7.5(7) is Substantive.

In addition, the case cited by Matthias, *Harvey v. Cedar Hills*, 227 P.3d 256 (Utah 2010) clearly holds that “as a general rule, when adjudicating a dispute we apply the version of the statute that was in effect at the time of the events giving rise to the suit.” *Id.* at 259. The *Harvey* court recognized that an exception to this rule applies when the amendment is one of procedure. However, in *Harvey* the court was faced with determining whether an amended statute, which added one factor a court was to consider in an illustrative list of factors, was procedural or substantive. The *Harvey* court found that the addition of an additional factor to be considered by a court when determining or defining the rights and duties of parties was a substantive change in the law which precluded retroactive effect of the amended statute. *Id.* at 262-63.

The situation in this case is identical. The only change to the subsection at issue was the addition of “employment opportunities” as a factor to consider in determining a

parent's employment potential and probable earnings. Based on the holding in *Harvey*, this amendment was a substantive alteration of the law, "which creates, defines and regulates the rights and duties of the parties. . ." *Id.* Therefore, retroactive application of the statute is inappropriate; thus, the trial court did not err in applying the version of the statute in effect at the time of trial.

C. Matthias Cannot Demonstrate Plain Error.

Regardless of whether the amended statute has retroactive effect, Utah courts "have recognized three instances in which an appellate court may address an issue for the first time on appeal²: (1) where the appellant establishes that the trial court committed 'plain error'; (2) where 'exceptional circumstances' exist; or (3) in some situations, where a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is raised on appeal." *State v. Weaver*, 122 P.3d 566, 570 (Utah 2005). In this case, Matthias argues that the trial court committed plain error by not applying the amended version of the statute. [Brief at p. 25].

To establish plain error, Matthias must demonstrate that (1) an error exists; (2) it should have been obvious to the trial judge; and (3) the error is harmful, meaning "absent the error, there is a reasonable likelihood of a more favorable outcome for Matthias, or phrased differently, [the reviewing court's] confidence in the [judgment] is undermined." *State v. Cruz*, 122 P.3d 543, 549 (Utah 2005) (quoting *State v. Casey*, 82

² Matthias concedes that he failed to raise this issue below. [Brief at pp. 25-26].

P.3d 1106, 1116 (Utah 2003)). “If any one of these requirements is not met, plain error is not established.” *State v. Dean*, 95 P.3d 276, 280 (Utah 2004) (citing *State v. Dunn*, 850 P.2d 1201, 1209 (Utah 1992)). In this case, plain error is not established because Matthias cannot demonstrate all three requirements.

Matthias also argues that the error was obvious to the trial judge. “An error is obvious when ‘the law governing the error was clear at the time the alleged error was made.’” *State v. Low*, 192 P.3d 867, 879 (Utah 2008) (citing *Dean* 95 P.3d at 281). Given that the statute was amended just weeks before the trial judge’s memorandum decision, and because neither party nor the judge noted the change in the statute, the trial judge was unaware of the change. Accordingly, it was not “obvious” to the trial judge that they were making an error in applying the pre-amended version of the statute.

Finally, even if there was an error, it was not harmful. The only change to the subsection at issue was the addition of “employment opportunities” as a factor to consider in determining a parent’s employment potential and probable earnings. Here, Matthias’ argument falls flat because the trial court in fact considered Matthias’s employment opportunities. In the Findings of Fact and Amended Decree of Divorce, the trial court noted Matthias’s employment opportunities following his termination from Tahitian Noni. The trial judge found that Matthias secured employment at Morinda, Inc. following his termination from a management position at Tahitian Noni. [R. at 1013]. The trial judge also found that Matthias sent out thirty to forty resumes after his

termination from Morinda, Inc. as an independent contractor. [R. at 1011]. Thus, the trial court considered evidence of Matthias' employment opportunities to make these findings. Accordingly, if there was an error, it was not harmful. Because Matthias cannot demonstrate all three requirements necessary to establish plain error, there can be no error.

IV. The Trial Court Did Not Err in Calculating the Amount of Income Imputed to Matthias.

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